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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone, to this hearing of the Public Safety

          4  Committee.  Today we consider two bills vital to

          5  this Council's oversight function under Section 29

          6  of the City's Charter.

          7                 First, in June of 2003 this Committee

          8  held a hearing on the NYPD Search Warrant Policies

          9  and Procedures after the death of Alberta Spruill.

         10  Ms. Spruill, as you recall, suffered a fatal heart

         11  attack after the police executed the search warrant

         12  at her apartment.  The police soon realized that the

         13  information that lead them to Ms. Spruill's

         14  apartment was inaccurate.

         15                 At that hearing, Police Commissioner

         16  Kelly outlined the changes he would make in

         17  obtaining and executing search warrants.  One such

         18  change, according to the Commissioner, would be the

         19  creation of essential database to track search

         20  warrant applications City-wide.  The testimony at

         21  the hearing revealed that different bureaus keep

         22  their own statistics on search warrants and there is

         23  no centralized repository for this information.

         24                 Based on that testimony, I sponsored

         25  an Intro. Which requires the NYPD, as part of the
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          2  police reporting law to provide the Council with

          3  this information and the statistics regarding the

          4  NYPD search warrant practices, including the total

          5  number of search warrants applied for and executed,

          6  the number of search warrants in which persons or

          7  property intent to be seized were not found at the

          8  location where the warrant was executed, the number

          9  of search warrants executed as no- knock searches,

         10  the number of search warrants executed using

         11  information provided by a confidential informant,

         12  and the number search warrant applications denied by

         13  a judge.

         14                 As with the other information

         15  required by the police reporting law this additional

         16  material will further assist this Committee in its

         17  oversight capacity.  This material will also give us

         18  an opportunity to review the practices of the NYPD

         19  in this important area.  We will also use this

         20  hearing as an oversight hearing to oversee -- to

         21  find out what is happening with the database to get

         22  a report on whether it is up to date or not and

         23  whether it's up and running.  And hopefully by

         24  working together will help ensure a tragic accident

         25  like Spruill will never happen again.
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          2                 Additionally, there is a second bill

          3  we're examining today.  And normally I don't give

          4  long, boring opening statements but this is

          5  technical stuff and it's important so I need to read

          6  this one.

          7                 Last January the Council passed and

          8  in February the Mayor signed Local Law 11.  This

          9  law, sponsored by Council Member Brewer, makes the

         10  City government more accessible to the public. It

         11  specifically requires any City agency, including the

         12  police department, to provide the Department of

         13  Records and Information Services DORIS, with any

         14  report document, study or publication required by

         15  local law, executive order or mayoral directive to

         16  be published, issued or transmitted to the Council

         17  or Mayor.  DORIS must then post this information on

         18  its web site and make it available to the public.

         19                 I voted for this law.  It makes the

         20  business of government more transparent and I

         21  commend the Council Member for her leadership.  One

         22  of the unintended consequences, which I didn't see

         23  and which was not testified to since I believe the

         24  Administration didn't see it at the time either, is

         25  that it will require certain sensitive law
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          2  enforcement reports and materials to be made public

          3  via the web.  Making this information -- putting it

          4  on the web as you may imagine has serious and

          5  unpredictable consequences that may expose the

          6  public and law enforcement agents to unexpected

          7  danger.

          8                 The NYPD faced with this dilemma has

          9  declined to provide this Committee with the material

         10  information mandated by the Police Reporting Law.

         11  As far as I understand, we haven't received any

         12  since October 2003 and that is obviously

         13  unacceptable and that is why we are moving as

         14  quickly as we are on this.  This Intro. Purports the

         15  view with that conflict between public access and

         16  sensitive information getting on the web.

         17                 So this bill provides that no report,

         18  document, study or publication, which is created or

         19  otherwise in the possession of a law enforcement

         20  agency, including but not limited to the police

         21  department, not have to be transmitted, if in the

         22  judgment of such law enforcement agency -- this is

         23  what happens when I have long, boring opening

         24  statements -- if in the judgement of that agency,

         25  the public disclosure of such material could
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          2  compromise the safety of the public or law

          3  enforcement officers or otherwise compromise law

          4  enforcement operations.

          5                 I wish to point out that this bill

          6  still requires that this disclosure of law

          7  enforcement material to the Council does not change

          8  the requirements of the Police Reporting Law and

          9  that this Council will still continue to receive

         10  that information under the Mayor's proposal.

         11                 I look forward to the testimony of

         12  all the witnesses today, including the NYCLU to

         13  determine whether or not the bill proposed is the

         14  appropriate way of balancing the public's right to

         15  know and the preservation of sensitive information.

         16                 I would like to welcome Council

         17  Member Katz.  Thank you.

         18                 Now, I look forward to the testimony

         19  on both those matters so please introduce yourselves

         20  gentlemen and ladies and begin in whatever way you

         21  wish.

         22                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Good morning.

         23  I am Deputy Chief John Gerrish, Commanding Officer

         24  of the Office of Management and Planning, New York

         25  City Police Department.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: I'm

          3  Assistant Commissioner Susan Petito from the Deputy

          4  Commissioner Legal Matters, Police Department.

          5                 CHIEF CONRY: Steven Conry, Chief

          6  Facility Operations, New York City Department of

          7  Corrections.

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Good morning,

          9  Mr. Chairman, and Council Member Katz.  On behalf of

         10  Commissioner Ray Kelly, I am pleased to be here

         11  today to offer the Department's comments on two

         12  bills that you mentioned; Intros Number 147 and 151.

         13                 New York City Charter 1133-A was

         14  amended last year to require City Agencies to

         15  electronically transmit to the Department of Records

         16  and Information Services, otherwise known as DORIS,

         17  each report, document, study and publication

         18  required by Local Law, Executive Order with Mayoral

         19  Directive to be published, issued or transmitted to

         20  the Council or Mayor. DORIS must then post the

         21  document on the City's web site within 10 business

         22  days.               Intro. 147 would amend the law

         23  to provide an exception for documents of a law

         24  enforcement agency which should not be made

         25  available on the City's web site because in the law
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          2  enforcement agency's judgement public disclosure

          3  could compromise the safety of the public or law

          4  enforcement officers, but could otherwise compromise

          5  law enforcement operations.  This language is based

          6  on language already contained in the Administrative

          7  Code, in Section 14- 150 regarding the quarterly

          8  reporting of police department activities to the

          9  City Council.

         10                 Although enacted as a means of

         11  increasing public access and awareness of the

         12  operations and reports of its local government, Part

         13  of Section 1133- A can have the unintended

         14  consequence of compelling the publication of

         15  sensitive law enforcement documents, which would not

         16  otherwise be required to be made public.  It

         17  mandates disclosure of documents without limit,

         18  which may in fact endanger the public safety, rather

         19  than protect and enhance it.

         20                 For example, the original intent and

         21  purpose of Administrative Codes, Section 14- 150 was

         22  to provide information and data to the City Council

         23  to assist the members of the Council in their

         24  oversight capacity.  There was never envisioned that

         25  such information would be available for posting on
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          2  the internet.  Much of the information and data that

          3  we supply to the Council is in a preliminary state

          4  and does not always reflect final agency data.

          5  Providing raw, unreviewed, and preliminary data on

          6  the internet to be reviewed globally is of great

          7  concern to the department.

          8                 Law enforcement agencies producing

          9  sensitive material for the Mayor, as the Chief

         10  Executive of the City, or for the City Council in

         11  its oversight capacity must have the discretion to

         12  determine what documents should not be posted on the

         13  internet. Without that discretion, agencies will be

         14  unable to share the information with the Mayor or

         15  City Council in the first instance, if the

         16  transmittal of that information makes it capable of

         17  being misused to unlimited internet access.

         18                 Law enforcement agencies have become

         19  acutely aware of the serious and unpredictable

         20  consequences of making information available through

         21  the internet in a post 9-11 world.  The anonymous

         22  accessing of sensitive information can impair law

         23  enforcement operations and expose the public to

         24  unexpected danger.  Criminals and terrorists use the

         25  internet, as well as everyone else and a reasonable
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          2  exception must be added to Charter Section 1133- A

          3  in order to serve the important goal of protecting

          4  public safety, while still encouraging community

          5  participation in the policies and operations of City

          6  government.

          7                 Turning to the second bill before

          8  you, Intro. 151, amends Administrative Code, Section

          9  14- 150 to include information regarding search

         10  warrants and confidential informants as part of the

         11  quarterly report of the Police Department Activity,

         12  forwarded by the department to the City Council.

         13  The bill reflects the importance of search warrant

         14  activity as an essential investigative tool and the

         15  Council's interest in data relating to that activity

         16  is appropriate and necessary; however, some aspects

         17  of the bill present serious concerns, which we would

         18  like to discuss.

         19                 First, the bill required that the

         20  information supplied be reported on a precinct by

         21  precinct basis.  To report such information about

         22  the number of search warrants and confidential

         23  informants on a local geographic basis would be

         24  counter- productive in the extreme.  It would

         25  provide a road map of police strategies and resource
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          2  to planning, especially with respect to confidential

          3  informants who are usually very afraid of exposure

          4  of their relationship with the police department.

          5                 Reporting the number of confidential

          6  informants on a local basis could seriously impair

          7  the willingness of individuals to take on that

          8  function.  The mere mention of confidential

          9  informants in a public setting can be chilling to

         10  the program. Whether the informants fear is rational

         11  or not, the heightened attention to the numbers in

         12  their precincts will feed their fear if they know

         13  that someone will be able to pinpoint how many

         14  informants there are in each precinct and speculate

         15  about their identities.

         16                 Second, even if the various

         17  categories of information were to be reported on a

         18  more global basis, for example for each operational

         19  bureau, the information produced could be extremely

         20  misleading.  All five operational bureaus performing

         21  enforcement functions Patrol, Housing,

         22  Transportation, Detective and Organized crime

         23  Control, conduct search warrant activity.

         24                 However, the database in which the

         25  information would be called separates commands
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          2  conducting search warrant activity according to the

          3  command of the police officer applying for the

          4  search warrant.  There are myriad joint operations

          5  involving personnel for more than one bureau, which

          6  would not be reflected in the data, thereby

          7  rendering the distinction between bureaus

          8  meaningless.

          9                 Further, the command of the officer

         10  is not necessarily reflective of the location in

         11  which the warrant is executed.  For example, if a

         12  Housing Bureau Officer applied for a search warrant

         13  there is no guarantee that the search warrant

         14  location would be in a Housing Development and

         15  conversely, a Patrol Officer might apply for a

         16  search warrant to be executed within a Housing

         17  Development.  Again, in both cases the data provided

         18  is potentially misleading.

         19                 The third concern raised by the bill

         20  is a requirement that the department report on the

         21  number of search warrants executed using information

         22  provided by a confidential informant.  This category

         23  of information inappropriately distinguishes between

         24  the various types of information utilized by police

         25  officers to develop the probable cause necessary to
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          2  apply for a search warrant, essentially assuming

          3  that information from confidential informants is

          4  inherently questionable.

          5                 Rather all information received by

          6  police officers must be carefully assessed before it

          7  is used.  In isolating confidential informants is

          8  the only relevant category of underlying

          9  information, distorts both the process of evaluating

         10  the department search warrant activity and the

         11  results obtained from that evaluation.  Moreover,

         12  routinely disclosing that a search warrant was

         13  obtained as a result of information provided by a

         14  confidential informant, creates an undo risk of

         15  exposing the informant and places that informant in

         16  serious jeopardy.

         17                 Fourth, the bill requires the

         18  reporting of the number of confidential informants

         19  maintained within the departments records and the

         20  number decertified as unreliable.  As a threshold

         21  matter, the collection of information regarding the

         22  number of confidential informants throughout the

         23  department, as required by the bill, would be at

         24  this point an unduly burdensome task since there is

         25  no centralized database capturing that information.
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          2                 More importantly, the department

          3  relies on a deterrent effect of an unknown number of

          4  confidential informants to combat criminal behavior.

          5    Although we are in the process of creating a

          6  database, making available even the aggregate number

          7  of informants, may have a chilling effect on the

          8  confidential informant system as a whole.  Therefore

          9  we believe that releasing any information regarding

         10  confidential informants, would be damaging to the

         11  effectiveness of the confidential informant process.

         12

         13                 Finally, the department understands

         14  and appreciates the authority of the City Council to

         15  have oversight of City agencies.  We would be happy

         16  to work with the Council to provide information that

         17  will satisfy the needs of the Council, while still

         18  maintaining the integrity of our public safety

         19  initiatives.

         20                 Thank you for allowing us the

         21  opportunity to speak about these proposals and we

         22  will be pleased to answer any questions you may

         23  have.

         24                 MR. CONRY: Good morning, Mr. Chairman

         25  and Council Members.  I am Steven Conry, Chief of

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Facility Operations for the Department of

          3  Correction.  Thank you for giving me this

          4  opportunity to speak to you today in support of our

          5  proposed amendment to Local Law 11.

          6                 The Department of Correction is

          7  committed to the Local Law 11 goal of using

          8  technology to improve the efficiency of government

          9  and make information more readily accessible to the

         10  public.  We have an aggressive IT agenda that

         11  evidences our commitment to that goal and includes:

         12  Improving public access to inmate information,

         13  allowing medical providers and staff to retrieve

         14  information from an inmate's prior stays that would

         15  assist in suicide prevention and medical treatment,

         16  sharing our inmate information system directly with

         17  the District Attorneys and Probation and conducting

         18  data matches with social service agencies, including

         19  HRA, DHS and NYCHA, to compare and analyze

         20  populations and improve service delivery to those we

         21  serve in common.

         22                 We also are using technology to

         23  mitigate the difficulties presented by the location

         24  of Rikers Island.  We have expanded video

         25  teleconferencing between inmates on Rikers and the
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          2  courts.  And just recently, we successfully piloted

          3  the use of a web- cam to allow community based

          4  organizations to interview inmates without the

          5  burden of traveling out to Rikers.

          6                 We are committed to openness and

          7  informing the public of what we do and how we do it,

          8  except where to do so would endanger staff, inmate

          9  or public safety.  Through a new initiative

         10  independent of Local Law 11, we are going to post on

         11  the Department of Correction web site those

         12  department directives that can safely be made

         13  public.

         14                 The standard we will be using as we

         15  review each directive is the same standard we

         16  propose here today.  The directive will be posted

         17  unless we determine that public disclosure could

         18  compromise the safety of the public or law

         19  enforcement officers or could otherwise compromise

         20  law enforcement operations. This approach is

         21  consistent with the long accepted principle, as

         22  reflected in Freedom of Information Act exemptions

         23  under the Public Officers Law, that the public's

         24  right to know must be limited when it conflicts with

         25  legitimate law enforcement needs.  As we control
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          2  over 110,000 inmates annually, we have an abundance

          3  of law enforcement tasks that must be performed on a

          4  day- to- day basis.

          5                 Our proposed amendment to Local Law

          6  11 would recognize that there are materials and

          7  reports which may be produced or made available to

          8  the Mayor as Chief Executive of the City or for the

          9  City Council in its oversight capacity, which cannot

         10  safely be broadcast on the Internet.  The anonymous

         11  and easy access of the Internet, while an advantage

         12  in opening up government to the public, also carries

         13  its risks.  Internet access can make it far too easy

         14  for those who wish to undermine public safety to do

         15  so.

         16                 Certain operations by their very

         17  nature are confidential and involve the use of

         18  confidential information or confidential informants.

         19    A report required by the Mayor's office or the

         20  Council on such an operation cannot be on a web

         21  site. Similarly, the Council or Mayor might

         22  appropriately require a report on emergency

         23  preparedness, which by its very nature would reveal

         24  information, which could not be widely distributed.

         25  Moreover, documents such as your escort procedures
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          2  for high security inmates, search strategies, and

          3  emergency response protocols for riots, escapes or

          4  hostage situations could not possibly be posted

          5  without a severe threat to the security of this

          6  agency and its staff.

          7                 In fact, if anybody saw the article

          8  in the New York Times on the 3rd, it relayed how

          9  there was an escape attempt up at Sing Sing Prison

         10  where they used security procedures that got outside

         11  the department, so it is something that is very

         12  valid in real circumstance.  Such documents have

         13  restricted distribution even within the Department,

         14  others have broader distribution, but under the

         15  Freedom of Information Law have successfully been

         16  withheld from the public under the law enforcement

         17  exemptions.

         18                 Legislation has been proposed which

         19  would require the Department of Correction to submit

         20  to the Council the Department's internal policies

         21  and procedures, including manuals and directives.

         22  We are not here to discuss this proposal today. But,

         23  we must recognize that there are materials which

         24  could be provided to the Council, under reasonable

         25  precautions, which cannot be provided if they must
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          2  also be placed on the Internet.  Creation of a

          3  limited law enforcement exemption to Local Law 11

          4  therefore would expand the pool of information,

          5  which could be made available to the Council without

          6  jeopardizing public safety.

          7                 Thank you for your attention.  I am

          8  happy to answer any questions you may have.

          9

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.  I

         11  would first like to also welcome Council Member

         12  Dilan, one of our newest members and Sarah Gonzalez

         13  and give her my congratulations on being named

         14  Chairman of our Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice.

         15  You have big shoes to fill, but I'm sure you will do

         16  fine.  So good luck with that.

         17                 Let me start with the search warrants

         18  database. Now, Ray Kelly testified back in June that

         19  the database, it was June 4th we had a hearing,

         20  would be up and running later that month.  Chief

         21  Gerrish, you just testified we are in the process of

         22  creating a database.  Can you give us an update as

         23  to the status of that process.

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  That was

         25  referring to the Confidential Informant Database, we
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          2  are still in the process of creating.  The Search

          3  Warrant database we have up and running.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  So the

          5  entire thing is functional at this point, other than

          6  the Confidential Informant Database?

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, that is

          9  very good. Congratulations.  It's not always the

         10  case.  We get a lot of things that are going to

         11  happen and sometimes they don't, so you deserve to

         12  be commended when they are.

         13                 Describe the database to us.  What

         14  type of information are you tracking, since you are

         15  not tracking confidential informants yet, is there

         16  anything else you've yet to track?  Just tell us a

         17  little bit about the database.

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: I believe the

         19  database gathers the information from various

         20  precincts and bureaus as to the location of the

         21  warrant, who applied for it, what judge approved it,

         22  evidence that was retrieved as a result of it, that

         23  type of information.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Well our

         25  bill would require a number of pieces of
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          2  information, which you did not testify you had a

          3  problem with.  I just wanted to run through some of

          4  those and I assume you support them since you didn't

          5  have a problem with them, but I don't want to make

          6  that assumption.

          7                 We asked for the number of search

          8  warrants executed in which persons or property

          9  intends to be seized were seized and the number when

         10  which the property was not seized.  Is that

         11  information you keep?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: That is

         13  information that we can obtain from the database.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And, we also

         15  asked for the number of search warrants which are

         16  executed as no- knock searches. Do you keep that

         17  information also?

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Yes, we do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And you would

         20  have, I would assume no problem -- maybe no problem

         21  isn't the way to put it -- but you would not be

         22  objecting to providing that information to the

         23  Council as part of this bill?

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Our main

         25  objection is again, if it is required to be posted
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          2  on the internet, these are information -- we

          3  understand the Council's role in the oversight

          4  capacity, we appreciate that role.  But, we have

          5  concerns about posting information such as that on

          6  the worldwide web.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  I know it

          8  is confusing to some of us, but there are two bills

          9  so you would not have an objection to that reported

         10  as part of the police disclosure bill, but you would

         11  have an objection to posting it on the internet as

         12  Local Law 11, that we are also discussing amending

         13  today.

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well, we again,

         15  on the aggregate level of numbers -- again we don't

         16  want to get into the individual local level on

         17  numbers on reporting that information.

         18                 Secondly again, the issue is to

         19  whether or not the whole purpose of needing to amend

         20  the bill.  I mean we would provide information at

         21  your request, other than just happen to amend a

         22  local law bill.  It seems that to ask us for the

         23  information we could provide that information on

         24  whatever basis you need it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well the law
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          2  requires that as it exists now, that every four

          3  months that you provide us the information that is

          4  required in the police disclosure bill.  We are

          5  going to add to that bill that you require this

          6  information also. The wrinkle in that is that some

          7  of that information you don't want posted on the

          8  internet and that is why we are discussing the

          9  second bill.

         10                 But, we are going to be passing this

         11  bill which requires the search warrant information

         12  be provided to us and hopefully amending it in such

         13  a way that it does not go on the internet if it

         14  violates, if you are worried about the valid law

         15  enforcement concern.

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: If I may, again

         17  in the aggregate level, we do have concerns even

         18  just at the local precinct level, on a matter of

         19  routine, giving that information out.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You have

         21  concerns, which we will obviously work with you on,

         22  but I assume at the end of the day we will come to a

         23  compromise where that information will be provided

         24  to us because that will be happening in one form or

         25  another.

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 You mentioned a few times during your

          3  testimony the problem with breaking this down

          4  precinct by precinct.  You mentioned that that might

          5  be misleading and you gave different reasons

          6  regarding the different operational bureaus and the

          7  different law enforcement functions of patrol and

          8  transportation and organized crime.  I understand

          9  that.  But, if that information is going to be

         10  misleading to us, it might be misleading to others

         11  also.

         12                 Perhaps the solution here is not that

         13  it not be provided, but it be kept in a way that is

         14  not misleading, because we will be requiring that

         15  information.  So how do we work together to get that

         16  information in a way that makes sense to people

         17  because we do have an oversight capacity here to

         18  fulfill.  The fact that it is going to be misleading

         19  is not going to persuade us to not ask for it. So we

         20  would hope that you would have an answer or a

         21  remedy, as opposed to just a concern about it being

         22  misleading.

         23                 Is there a way that you can make this

         24  information less misleading so it will help us

         25  perform our oversight function?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well, we could

          3  definitely work with the Council on developing

          4  exactly the format that you want the information.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  And my

          6  Counsel, Ted Baecher normally is able to work with

          7  the police department, prior to the hearing,

          8  unfortunately for this hearing, we did not have

          9  time.  So normally we work some of these things out

         10  beforehand, but we look forward to working with you

         11  on this to perhaps come up with some language you

         12  would not have an objection to.

         13                 You had some concerns about the

         14  confidential informant sections.  That is very

         15  important to us obviously.  For one of the main most

         16  obvious reasons is the tragic death of Alberta

         17  Spruill resulted from information from a

         18  confidential informant. I am not persuaded that just

         19  by putting the amount of confidential informants in

         20  a specific area is going to jeopardize their safety,

         21  but, is there a way that you would rather give that

         22  information to us.

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Again, we have

         24  serious concerns about giving any information on it,

         25  as a matter of routine, on a confidential informant
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          2  nature.  The Alberta Spruill tragedy, we did a

          3  report, which we provided to Council, which was also

          4  posted on our internet on such an extreme case that

          5  we wanted to get the public the information as

          6  quickly as we could on that. But, as a matter of

          7  routine to provide any information on confidential

          8  informants, we have strong concerns over.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, we

         10  appreciate your concerns but we need to work to find

         11  a way to get that information. Because it is

         12  important information and it's not going to be

         13  enough that you have concerns, we need to find a way

         14  to get this information from you that wouldn't

         15  jeopardize anyone's safety and will give us the

         16  opportunity to provide some oversight.  One moment

         17  please.

         18                 That one goes over to the other bill

         19  we are going to discuss yet.  So does Council have

         20  questions on the search warrant portion of the bill

         21  first before we move over?

         22                 Let's do the search warrant part

         23  first.  Council Member Katz.  Thanks.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Good morning

         25  Deputy Chief and thank you for coming in today and
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          2  we do appreciate the fact that Commissioner Kelly is

          3  very busy.  He always makes it here so we know it

          4  must be extremely important.  He is very good with

          5  us in responding, so we do appreciate the police

          6  department's role at the Council.

          7                 I have a little -- not confusion, but

          8  issues on which ones of these would be problematic

          9  to report to the Council. Forgetting the issue of

         10  having this as part of the reporting requirements of

         11  the Council and then having it go on to the public

         12  internet, I understand that is a different

         13  discussion that I need to wait for, Mr. Chair?  You

         14  want me to wait for that discussion?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: (Not using

         16  microphone.)

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.  I

         18  guess you are going to work out with the Chair

         19  exactly what type of information would be okay to

         20  report on the search warrants?  Is that my

         21  understanding of where we are right now?  I mean I

         22  guess then, it's more of a question.  Your issues

         23  then are, by reporting search warrant information

         24  that has already been done.  Is the local precinct

         25  issue more so than any of the City- wide
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          2  perspectives?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Our main issue,

          4  well we have local precinct, but also any search

          5  warrant that -- one of the requests was search

          6  warrants that were generated by a confidential

          7  informant.  For a variety of reasons, most important

          8  is the safety and security of a confidential

          9  informant.  I think that would expose that informant

         10  to extreme danger if that information is given out.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I guess my

         12  misunderstanding is we aren't asking them for the

         13  names of the informant, we're not even asking the

         14  police department which search warrants, if I'm not

         15  mistaken, were processed under a informant.  I

         16  believe what we are asking are the number City- wide

         17  of search warrants that were issued pursuant to a

         18  confidential informant.  Is that your understanding?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: It is my

         20  understanding.  But even that information again,

         21  besides the chilling effect on the confidential

         22  informant that information might get out that they

         23  had provided information.  It can still have an

         24  effect.  If somebody -- you know these search

         25  warrants are executed many times against very bad
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          2  people and if there is an indication that they

          3  believe that a confidential informant gave them up,

          4  it can be -- you know, speculation as to who was

          5  that confidential informant.  In the extreme it can

          6  really place that informant in extreme jeopardy, so

          7  that is one issue.

          8                 The second issue is --

          9                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: If I may.  That one

         10  issue.  It's fine that you have that concern, but

         11  why?  Why would the number of confidential

         12  informants used in the City possibly jeopardize any

         13  particular confidential informant safety?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  On a search

         15  warrant executed, say we said 90 percent were

         16  executed with information from a search warrant.

         17  Well, if I am the subject of a search warrant, I

         18  don't need, you know I'm not going to wait for due

         19  process of probable cause to say, well maybe I am in

         20  that 10 percent.  I'm going to assume that a

         21  confidential informant gave up information.  And, if

         22  I had only told that information to one person, I

         23  think I would have a good idea, and I would take

         24  action.  So, we have concerns about giving any

         25  information out regarding confidential informants.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Obviously, we

          3  don't want ever to jeopardize any investigations.

          4  There is no doubt about that. But, these are search

          5  warrants which have already been issued.  We want to

          6  work with you to make sure that we are not

          7  jeopardizing anything, but it is a far stretch, at

          8  least for me to believe that if there is a report

          9  that says 90 percent of the search warrants are done

         10  by a confidential informant, those 90 percent --

         11  you're saying that those 90 percent of the people

         12  who were snitched on basically, are going to hear

         13  that number and assume that they are one of those

         14  people and then they are going to assume that there

         15  was a confidential informant?  Is that -- it can't

         16  be.

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well first

         18  that's strictly a hypothetical on the 90 percent.

         19  I'm not saying as a matter of routine.  But, if I'm

         20  a criminal, yes I'm going to assume that information

         21  that somebody gave me up.  If it comes out -- maybe

         22  not. We value confidential informants and we

         23  recognize the danger that they place themselves in

         24  by becoming confidential informants and we do not

         25  want to give any information that might compromise
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          2  their safety.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Is there any

          4  other aspects in particular of the list of

          5  requirements for the reporting that bother you

          6  specifically?  That you think might jeopardize your

          7  investigations?  I know you testified, but I'm just

          8  really talking a little more specific.

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well again,

         10  even the pure number, the aggregate number of

         11  confidential informants, you know there is a

         12  deterrent effect to be had by not knowing how many

         13  confidential informants there are, whether there are

         14  500 or 5,000 or 50,000, it's a number that you want

         15  to keep confidential.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right, Mr.

         17  Chair may I have the questions on the other one?  I

         18  think that -- no I not going to -- you want me to

         19  wait, I will wait.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me just jump

         21  in on that one topic first.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: May I.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Oh, sure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I think that

         25  this Council, especially some of us were extremely
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          2  concerned when the confidentiality for instance of

          3  the officers were disseminated and we understand the

          4  need for confidentiality informants as well.  I

          5  would make a request though to the Chair and to you

          6  that there needs to draw a line as far as what

          7  confidentiality is really going to endanger, or lack

          8  of confidentiality is really going to endanger.  I

          9  think that the whole purpose of this legislation,

         10  Mr. Chair was really as a result of that woman last

         11  year who they had a no- knock and we understand that

         12  is a small percentage, but this is what we are

         13  trying to sort of have oversight over.  I think

         14  that's a discussion that you and the Chair need to

         15  have.  I am not sure I 100 percent, not that I don't

         16  understand, I'm not sure I 100 percent agree that

         17  the number of informants in the City is going to

         18  jeopardize their confidentiality.  But, that's an

         19  agreement you need to make out.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think we again

         21  need to point out that there is two separate issues

         22  here.  The fact that you gave it to the Council, I

         23  think is a no- brainer.  We need to have that

         24  information.  Whether it goes on the internet and

         25  then some drug dealer gets on the internet, finds
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          2  out the percentage and assumes it is a CI is a whole

          3  other story.

          4                 There is two issues here.  Whether it

          5  becomes part of the police disclosure bill, which it

          6  will in some form or another and then whether it

          7  gets exempted out of the same bill with our second

          8  bill we are considering.

          9                 You spoke about specific information,

         10  which you deem would be a security risk. I don't

         11  think there is anyone who would disagree that escort

         12  procedures for high security inmates would be

         13  something that should not be on the internet.

         14                 A concern of people I have spoken to,

         15  and they will be testifying later, obviously is who

         16  makes this decision as to what should not go on the

         17  internet.

         18                 CHIEF CONRY: In the case of the

         19  Department of Correction the Agency would make that

         20  decision, based on whatever it is that we have in

         21  front of us that isn't expected to be released to

         22  the web and to the Council.  We would have an open

         23  discussion with the Council if we thought it was not

         24  relevant or did endanger law enforcement operation.

         25  At the end of the day though, we believe it is the
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          2  Agency's decision to make because it's our staff

          3  that's in danger and possibly the public safety at

          4  danger.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It makes sense,

          6  but again when you give us a list which we can look

          7  at, we'll know what information is being withheld

          8  and we'll be able to agree with you, I would assume,

          9  for the most part. But, we would want to know if

         10  this information is being withheld, or if there is

         11  information, what it is.  And, that's something that

         12  we will be working with both of these departments

         13  on.  If it's going to be withheld from either us or

         14  from the public we would like to know what it is.

         15                 A specific question that came up

         16  during our last hearing was the concern about wrong

         17  door searches and I believe that was the situation

         18  with Spruill when that was the actual wrong

         19  apartment.  That was not classified at the time as a

         20  mistake because the information was correct, it was

         21  just executed at the wrong apartment apparently.

         22                 Does your new database collect this

         23  information and will it be able to determine the

         24  amount of wrong door raids at fault.

         25                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Oh, we will be
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          2  able to determine the wrong door, if the warrant is

          3  executed at an address that is not indicated on the

          4  warrant.  That's what we would constitute as a wrong

          5  door.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me just

          7  clarify something. I said the confidential informant

          8  actually gave that address.  It wasn't your fault

          9  that you didn't go next door or something like that,

         10  the confidential informant gave that address, but it

         11  was not the address he thought it was.  So how does

         12  that -- and then that's a different situation where

         13  for some reason you just go to an address that

         14  should not have been gone to.  Is that information

         15  going to be captured on your database?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: We will be able

         17  to capture the information as to whether the address

         18  was wrong, but also whether it was a positive result

         19  or negative result and we will be able to capture

         20  that as well.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What about an

         22  address being wrong because the informant was wrong.

         23    Would that be captured also?

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: I believe it's

         25  going to be captured, not as a separate category,
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          2  but in the detail section in the database that if

          3  the information supplied was not accurate.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  Council

          5  Member Katz, please.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Actually the

          7  Chair got to my first question, which is how to

          8  determine what is the danger to law enforcement or

          9  the officer.  So it will be done by each Agency? So,

         10  if there was corrections, they would be done by your

         11  Agency. If it was police, it would be done by the

         12  police basically.  And the Mayor obviously would

         13  have the last word.  But we would still get the

         14  information as the Council.

         15                 So, my question is that maybe this is

         16  a better question for Counsel.  I am not really sure

         17  if you know this.  Do we have a Confidentiality

         18  Agreement with the Agencies?  I mean, I don't know

         19  if I really want to go down this road.  I don't feel

         20  any eyes yet peering at me.  So, if you give us

         21  information that you don't want on the internet,

         22  just in general I guess, when we deal with the

         23  Agencies, there is really no confidentiality

         24  agreement with the Council.  So, basically you're

         25  giving us the information, so it becomes public
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          2  anyway.  Right?  Are we supposed -- Do we have like

          3  an un -- I don't really know the question to ask

          4  here.  I mean, I don't know what to ask without

          5  getting in trouble..

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: According to our

          7  Counsel, what I can divulge to the public without

          8  having to withhold information, is that there is no

          9  official agreement and that if information is given

         10  to myself, as Public Safety Chair, which they think

         11  should remain confidential, they ask me to do that

         12  and if I agree, which I have, I have done that.

         13  And, I should say that they have rarely, if ever

         14  done that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yeah, I have

         16  never been asked.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, for the

         18  moment what they have given to us has been --

         19  whether it has actually gone to the public, has been

         20  able to be given to the public.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So basically

         22  this would be our way of just making some sort of a

         23  barrier so that it's not as easy when I do ask the

         24  Gs (phonetic) for police reports, that I don't get

         25  the 50 warrants that were issued in that precinct.
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          2                 So basically, we are just sort of

          3  putting some confidentially issues together.

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well, in

          5  general we rely obviously on your discretion.   When

          6  we submit sensitive materials to the Council in your

          7  role as oversight, we're relying on your discretion,

          8  not to compromise safety by posting it somewhere.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Do you have

         10  discretion not to give us certain materials pursuant

         11  to the law?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Yes, we do.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: By the way,

         14  that's okay.  But, I'm just curious.  So we would

         15  have to assume that we wouldn't be getting things

         16  that were so outrageously dangerous.  I'm not

         17  necessarily saying that's a bad thing.  I'm just

         18  asking for clarification.  I have one more question.

         19    FOIL.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you actually

         21  think a Council Member would make that public at a

         22  hearing?  No, that's happened hasn't it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes, that is

         24  happened.

         25                 FOIL.  So we would have it and then
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          2  it's in our documents.  What if the public FOILS

          3  your documents?

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: We have a FOIL

          5  process on that.  But in addition, it's not only

          6  sensitive materials.  It's the fact that many of the

          7   -- much of the data that we provide as a result of

          8  the quarterly reporting bill is just raw data.  It's

          9  raw data, it's not finalized, it will change, it's

         10  not in any context that, you know, it's somewhat

         11  confusing.  In your oversight capacity you

         12  understand that.  But to just dump this out there

         13  and if you look at what's on the Department of

         14  Records Information Services their posting are

         15  primarily finished reports, you know, and studies,

         16  that kind of information, not just raw data.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Mr. Chair, I

         18  thank you for your patience.  I just really, you

         19  know, in today's day and time obviously we all

         20  understand that there is certain things that the

         21  police need to have the freedom to be able to

         22  investigate and do without worrying that immediately

         23  the questions are going to arise. I think that is an

         24  important aspect of the police activities to be able

         25  to do that and keep us safe in that way.  So I
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          2  really just wanted to be clear on how this

          3  information is made public and whether it could be.

          4  So I thank you for your time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you

          6  Council Member.

          7                 Corrections mentioned some specific

          8  areas they would not want to go into.  Can you give

          9  us some specific areas.  I know that one of them

         10  that's been discussed is out there is that you might

         11  not want to give all the police training manuals,

         12  which makes sense.  Are there any other areas that

         13  you can discuss that you would not want to make

         14  public on the internet?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Mr. Chairman, I

         16  think that we would like to discuss that as part of

         17  the -- we're going to meet with your staff as to

         18  some of the issues that we think we would like to

         19  keep out.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.  You

         21  should know that as usual, our staff took great care

         22  to craft the search warrant bill, and both those --

         23  but the second bill was crafted by the Mayor, I

         24  shouldn't say that.  But the search warrant bill to

         25  be as comprehensive and yet still not compromised in
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          2  any way -- for example as Council Member Katz

          3  brought up we don't ask for specific information on

          4  confidential informers or even what search warrants

          5  they were used in, but just a general amount.  So we

          6  have tried to keep your concerns in mind when we

          7  crafted this and we will work with you to hopefully

          8  get a bill that you wouldn't have vociferous

          9  objections to, you may have a few.

         10                 You spoke about the search warrant

         11  database.  In general, again you deserve to be

         12  commended for that and as usual Commissioner Kelly

         13  took prompt action to rectify a situation.  But as

         14  part of our oversight capacity, we like to know what

         15  that database has helped you determine at this

         16  point.  What information have you been able to find

         17  that you might not have had before this. In what

         18  ways has it been a help?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well it's just

         20  been a help in aggregating the total number -- it's

         21  one central repository for all of our information,

         22  rather than having to reach out to each bureau for

         23  the number of warrants that they may have executed.

         24  Now we have a centralized database that we can

         25  search various search options and queries that we
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          2  can do, which we find very useful.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: One of the first

          4  things that I would do if I got a nice new toy like

          5  that is analyze it.  Has that been done?  Have you

          6  used this database to identify any good trends or

          7  bad trends in the search warrant process?  And it's

          8  not when will that be done because we would like to

          9  see that.

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: I'm sorry.

         11  There is analysis being done in this database, like

         12  you said, that's the purpose of having it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Will there be

         14  any study released by the department of this

         15  analysis, will this be put down in any written forms

         16  so that it can be analyzed by myself and the Public

         17  Safety Staff?

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Well we hadn't

         19  planned on doing a study of it.  We use this in

         20  daily operational functions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well when we

         22  eventually get that information then we will

         23  probably wind up doing our own study.

         24                 We welcome Council Member Reed to the

         25  proceedings. Thank you for joining us.  Any
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          2  questions from Council Members while we have -- as I

          3  said, this was a hearing that we had very quickly

          4  because we have not received information from the

          5  police about which we need.  Some of the witnesses

          6  to testify after this happened haven't even had a

          7  chance to review the bills in detail. And we will be

          8  working with you on this bill in a very quick manner

          9  because we do need to get this information.  So my

         10  staff will be contacting you.  We look forward to

         11  working with you on this. Thank you both for your

         12  testimony today and obviously there will be people

         13  remaining here from both your departments to hear

         14  the testimony of some of the other witnesses who may

         15  have problems with this, correct?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH: Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: All right.

         18  Thank you for your testimony.

         19                 The next panel will consist of Chris

         20  Dunn, The Civil Liberties Union.  Welcome Mr. Dunn

         21  and thank you for coming down today.  You can begin

         22  at any time.

         23                 MR. DUNN: Good morning, Chairman

         24  Vallone, other Council Members, Mr. Reed.  I thank

         25  you for inviting us back.  I must say I am
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          2  astonished after hearing Commissioner Kelly's

          3  testimony last June, to hear the department's

          4  testimony today. Commissioner Kelly, last June in

          5  the aftermath of the Spruill disaster, came in and

          6  made a number of what I would consider to be lofty

          7  pronouncements to this Council that his personal

          8  interest in dealing with search warrant problems and

          9  rending greater public transparency to the search

         10  warrant process in New York City Police Department.

         11                 What I heard today was the New York

         12  City Police Department saying, we do not want to

         13  give this Council information and we certainly don't

         14  want the public to know anything about our search

         15  warrant process. That unfortunately has been

         16  consistent with the positions and the actions that

         17  we have seen for the last several months.  I

         18  therefore am very concerned about their position,

         19  about what appears to be their change of position on

         20  this issue and how it relates to the legislation.

         21                 So let me first turn to the issue of

         22  the legislation and say that I think that everyone

         23  here understands the significance of the search

         24  warrant problem. What happened with Alberta Spruill

         25  was a horrific example, but only an example of what
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          2  is happening to hundreds, if not thousands of people

          3  in New York City over the last five to ten years in

          4  terms of search warrant problems.  I suspect there

          5  is not a member on this Committee who does not have

          6  constituents who have called and said, the police

          7  banged down my door in the middle of the night and I

          8  don't know why, and I've done nothing wrong.

          9                 Initially the department responded to

         10  the Spruill tragedy in a positive way.  I think

         11  Commissioner Kelly as he often does, make

         12  commendable public statements about his concerns.

         13  The report that they issued was a good report.  I

         14  think there are real questions now about what the

         15  follow up has been.  We certainly continue to have

         16  serious concerns.  We are most concerned about the

         17  police department's insistence on not disclosing

         18  information to the public and I will give you what I

         19  think is a particularly good example that the New

         20  York City Criminal Court Judges asked the NYCLU to

         21  come and make a presentation to them, all the

         22  criminal judges in New York City in October, about

         23  search warrant issues arising out of the Spruill

         24  controversy.  The police department also came.  The

         25  police department did this nice presentation for all
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          2  the criminal court judges about what great things

          3  they were doing to improve the search warrant

          4  process.  I don't have a way to judge that, I take

          5  it on good faith, that's what they were doing.  But

          6  then when the judges said, okay well good, when you

          7  come in and apply for search warrants you've got to

          8  tell us about what exactly you have done so we can

          9  make sure that if you used a confidential informant

         10  that it's a reliable informant, or that when you are

         11  going to use a no- knock warrant there is a basis

         12  for a no- knock warrant.  And, the police department

         13  said, no, no, no, we can't do that.  We're not going

         14  to give that information.  As judges you need to

         15  trust us.  And, that's what they are saying to you

         16  today. And, that's what they are saying to the

         17  public.  There may be problems with search warrants,

         18  but you need to trust us that we are fixing it.

         19  And, that's simply unacceptable.

         20                 So turning to the bill itself, and

         21  first I understand this happened very quickly.  I am

         22  quite impressed that on the space of one week's

         23  notice you got, there must have been fifteen people

         24  here from the police department.  I have been here

         25  at other hearings where they have said with much
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          2  more notice that they couldn't possibly get here,

          3  but they managed to get here with a lot of people to

          4  say that they don't want data going out to the

          5  public.  But I do think that these bills raise

          6  important issues and we the NYCLU are not prepared

          7  to provide written testimony right now, but we will

          8  shortly.  I think there do need to be changes and

          9  let me turn to the substantive concerns.

         10                 The first one is something that was

         11  addressed, I think by many people, which is this

         12  issue about public disclosure, as opposed to

         13  disclosure to the Council.  And I will tell you,

         14  from our perspective, it is unacceptable for police

         15  reporting in the City to be simply reporting to the

         16  Council and not to the public. It's terrific in your

         17  oversight capacity that you ask them to report, but

         18  I can tell you that in the civil rights community we

         19  do not want to rely on the City Council as the sole

         20  source of ability to analyze what the police

         21  department is doing.

         22                 While I commend your efforts on

         23  oversight, I will tell you the last time which was

         24  quite recent, when we had a dispute about this,

         25  which concerned the stop and frisk data that was
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          2  produced by the police department to the City

          3  Council pursuant to a reporting bill, it took us

          4  considerable time to get from you the information.

          5  It took a lot of effort and I frankly just think

          6  that this is the sort of data that needs to be made

          7  public, not just to the City Council.

          8                 Secondly, on the issue of analysis,

          9  Chairman Vallone you raise a very important issue

         10  and I was struck you said, well, what's the analysis

         11  your doing now that you are looking at the data.

         12  What I heard the police department say was, well,

         13  we're analyzing but we're not really analyzing and

         14  they certainly said there is no report.  And, you

         15  said, okay, well maybe we'll do some analysis. And I

         16  would say that this bill has got to include a

         17  recognition on the part of the Council, that if it's

         18  going to get the information, it's going to so some

         19  analysis.  It is not sufficient for the Council to

         20  mandate the police department to simply produce

         21  data.  You got all this data, you put it in a box,

         22  it really doesn't mean anything unless there is some

         23  analysis and some public reporting.  You've got a

         24  terrific staff.  Ted is able to analyze anything

         25  effectively and I think it's absolutely essential
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          2  that if the City Council is really going to do

          3  oversight, they have got to analyze data when they

          4  require that it be produced.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I just want to

          6  jump in and second you when it comes to Ted and just

          7  specify that there was a delay when you asked for

          8  that information.  There hasn't been a delay on any

          9  other information, on any information that either

         10  you or any other group has asked for from us we have

         11  given.  That delay was my fault and a lot of it had

         12  to do with Council Member Katz's question about

         13  exactly what we are allowed to turn over when the

         14  police department gets to us in getting definitive

         15  answers on that. But that's been resolved and I just

         16  wanted to make clear that any information that you

         17  have asked and that other groups have asked, the

         18  Council hasn't given out.

         19                 MR. DUNN: Okay.  Well I appreciate

         20  that but getting to what Council Member Katz was

         21  talking about, and you raised this yourself.  The

         22  notion that statistical information somehow is just

         23  like a big secret and it's going to disclose us this

         24  secret, sensitive, investigatory information is

         25  shall we say, not very believable.  We all of course
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          2  are concerned about the police department not

          3  disclosing sensitive information that is going to

          4  compromise investigations or you know, is going to

          5  let terrorists do terrorist sort of things.  I mean,

          6  that goes without saying. But frankly it is simply

          7  not credible and when the police department starts

          8  trotting that justification out or saying things

          9  like, we cannot release the fact that in a quarter

         10  we executed 4,300 search warrants using confidential

         11  informants.  I mean that's just silly.

         12                 Turning to the bill itself.  We have

         13  some specific concerns about the bill and whether it

         14  all goes to visibility of the Council and people

         15  like us to actually analyze what the problems are,

         16  the search warrants --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The search

         18  warrant bill or Local Law 11.

         19                 MR. DUNN: I'm sorry.  I'm talking

         20  about the search warrant bill.  I'm only focusing on

         21  the search warrant bill.

         22                 The Alberta Spruill case I think

         23  illustrated two primary concerns with search

         24  warrants.  The department's reliance of confidential

         25  informants in the oft- unreliability of those
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          2  sources of information and the department's reliance

          3  in no- knock warrants. The Spruill case of course,

          4  was a case in which using the confidential

          5  informant, whose story was not verified by the

          6  police department, whose department executed a no-

          7  knock warrant and Alberta Spruill ended up dead.

          8  Without saying anything about how representative

          9  that is of broader particular search warrant

         10  executions, Commissioner Kelly himself testified Mr.

         11  Vallone before you in June that most search warrants

         12  or no- knock warrants, even though the law requires

         13  that no- knock warrants be used only in special

         14  circumstances, and it is clear by all accounts that

         15  the department is heavily relying upon confidential

         16  informants.

         17                 When you look at the bill the way it

         18  is structured, there is no way to conclude for

         19  instance, of the number of confidential informant

         20  search warrants, how many of them are bad warrants.

         21  All you get are these aggregated figures.  You get

         22  the total number of bad warrants.  You get the total

         23  number of confidential informant warrants.  You get

         24  the total number of no knock warrants.  There is no

         25  way to analyze those figures and get to what we
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          2  should all be concerned about, which is for

          3  instance, how many number no- knock warrants relied

          4  upon confidential informants.  How many confidential

          5  informant warrants were bad warrants.  How many

          6  confidential informant warrants were bad address

          7  warrants, because that's what gets at the problem.

          8                 And so from our perspective two

          9  things need to happen.  First, the types of

         10  information that you're asking for numbers from the

         11  department need to be refined considerably so you

         12  will get figures that will allow you to actually get

         13  to what you are concerned about, which is the

         14  practices that produce these bad warrants.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Good.

         16                 MR. DUNN: Secondly, and really I

         17  think more importantly, I think the Council needs to

         18  figure out a way to get out of the box of the police

         19  department just giving them numbers and really get

         20  to a position where the department with the Council

         21  and the public have access to the database that has

         22  the numbers in it so people can actually analyze the

         23  numbers.  You know, the police department is very

         24  good at spinning things their way.  I was interested

         25  in, I'm sorry I don't remember the gentlemen's name,
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          2  who said, well we don't want to report that because

          3  that's misleading. I mean, from my perspective

          4  that's laughable because the police department

          5  reports things all the time in an intentionally

          6  misleading way.  And, that's fine, that's their

          7  deal, they get to spin things the way they want.

          8  Just like people on this Committee get to spin

          9  things the way they want and just like we get to

         10  spin things the way that we want.  But if you don't

         11  have the ability to actually analyze the data, all

         12  you're being given is their spin. You're just being

         13  given something you can't work with.

         14                 Of course we recognize that any

         15  access to data, you need to protect sensitive

         16  information.  All you're talking about here are

         17  statistics.  This is just statistical information.

         18  And I think you need to have a way to assure that

         19  you and we and others have a way to get to the data

         20  and look at it and analyze it.  I don't want to have

         21  to be badgering Ted and saying give me 25 boxes of

         22  printouts so I can sit there and have some of my

         23  office, you know typing numbers into a database and

         24  spinning it out.  I mean that's silly.  The police

         25  department has a database.  All right. And there are
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          2  plenty of ways to deal with confidential informants.

          3  No one wants to know the identity of confidential

          4  informants obviously.

          5                 The final thing is on the issue of

          6  the precinct level considerations.  First, I must

          7  say and this may reflect the fact that I didn't have

          8  a chance to really discuss this with Ted or with

          9  others, I did not read the bill the way it is

         10  written as requiring precinct level reporting on

         11  these specific areas.  I understood the first

         12  sentence of the bill to require precinct level

         13  reporting about total number of search warrants

         14  applied and executed.  And then, at least the way I

         15  read the bill, the rest of the categories are City-

         16  wide.  And, I therefore have the concern that to the

         17  extent that bad search warrant practices are often

         18  times localized within the police department, you

         19  want to know if there is a precinct where there is a

         20  serious search warrant problem.  You want to know if

         21  there is a borough command where there is a serious

         22  search warrant problem.  You know, the fact that

         23  officers from four different commands may have been

         24  involved with it is kind of besides the point if in

         25  a geographical area say, with Mr. Reed in Harlem,
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          2  you see that there are a whole lot of bad search

          3  warrants being executed in the precincts in Harlem.

          4  We don't really care if there are officers from

          5  other precincts who are involved in the execution of

          6  the search warrants, we know there is a problem with

          7  search warrants in that neighborhood.  Frankly, I

          8  think it's a serious problem if you let the police

          9  department get away with the notion, they get to

         10  report City- wide figures.  It renders the problem,

         11  an abstract problem.  It takes it away from you as

         12  Council Members who have constituents who don't live

         13  in the City of New York.  Yes of course they do,

         14  they live in a neighborhood.  They live in a

         15  precinct.  And if the City is going to be serious

         16  about oversight of search warrant practices as they

         17  effect your constituents, you need to know what's

         18  happening to your constituents.  This bill, as I

         19  read it, does not do that.  And certainly the police

         20  department doesn't want anything to do with that.

         21  They don't want that.  They don't want the Daily

         22  News one day saying, you know, Harlem 4,500 bad

         23  search warrants in the last two years.  They are

         24  going to hit the ceiling if that happens. They don't

         25  want anything like that.  They want to disguise the
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          2  problem as best they can and the way to do that is

          3  you give global numbers.  That's all I have to say.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I agree

          5  with most of what you said and your first piece of

          6  advice about changing this bill to provide more

          7  specific information regarding the amount of bad

          8  search warrants in any specific area of search

          9  warrants is a good piece of advice.  It is well

         10  taken and will be rewritten to reflect that and we

         11  will be reaching out to you and your organization

         12  for advice when it comes to that.

         13                 I think some of confusion over the

         14  police department's testimony comes from the fact

         15  that I think we are all confused as to what they

         16  don't want to give us and what they don't want to

         17  give us because at this point, without an amendment,

         18  what they give us by law is required to go on the

         19  internet.  So that is something that I am going to

         20  work with them on.  They have been pretty good in

         21  giving us things, so I am assuming that they don't

         22  want to give it to us now, some of it, because it

         23  goes on the internet.

         24                 But you are also right, I was not

         25  persuaded as to some of the testimony, it's just
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          2  that regarding why the amount of confidential

          3  informants would possibly jeopardize any

          4  confidential informant.  I will give them a chance

          5  to make that argument better but at the end of the

          6  day it doesn't sound like that's going to be a

          7  problem for the City Council.

          8                 And their testimony regarding what

          9  may be misleading, I had the same exact concerns you

         10  did listening to the testimony because we have

         11  received piles of information in the past that we've

         12  had to go through boxes and boxes of things and it's

         13  almost useless information.  And they should report

         14  it in a way that it's not misleading and we will

         15  work with them on that.  But misleading is not a

         16  reason to not give it out.

         17                 First let me introduce Council Member

         18  Gentile and welcome our newest member, Council

         19  Member Gennaro, it's great to have you on the

         20  Committee.  We look forward to working with you and

         21  go to Council Member Katz with some questions.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Just two very

         23  quick questions. You were talking about the police

         24  department and I guess your distrust in them not

         25  being able to give out certain information because
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          2  of confidentiality reasons.  Is there information

          3  that you believe should not be issued or given out?

          4  Is there anything really that the police department

          5  does in terms of this legislation, especially search

          6  warrants, that you believe would be unsafe for them

          7  to give out?

          8                 MR. DUNN:  My sense of what the bill

          9  asks for is that it is asking for even if done at a

         10  precinct level, relatively aggregate statistical

         11  information, I don't see how that imperils

         12  investigations.  The one thing that just strikes me

         13  commonsensibly and I think this is a fair point,

         14  that if the bill were to require reporting of, for

         15  instance, the number of confidential informants

         16  registered in a particular precinct.  You know, I

         17  don't understand the bill to require that.  But if

         18  it were to require something like that, you know, I

         19  suppose that starts getting sufficient localizing,

         20  maybe there would start being some concerns.  That's

         21  the only place where I see actual issues around this

         22  and I don't see the bill requiring that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         25  Reed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.  Mr. Dunn, I heard in your initial comments

          4  somebody that made it sound to me and I was a bit

          5  surprised that you may not be in favor of using

          6  confidential informants?

          7                 MR. DUNN: No.  If you understood me

          8  to say that then I miss spoke.  I wasn't suggesting

          9  that at all.  What I am in favor of is a police

         10  department making sure that when it does use

         11  confidential informants it verifies the reliability

         12  of the informants information before they start

         13  crashing into peoples apartments in the middle of

         14  the night.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: What would you

         16  think would be an appropriate way to verify the

         17  information?  How would the police do you think go

         18  about that in a timely fashion?

         19                 MR. DUNN: Well the police department

         20  actually was interesting at this presentation that

         21  was made to the criminal court judges in October.

         22  Talked about a new process that it had put in place

         23  since the Spruill incident to assure that there was

         24  appropriate verification of the information from

         25  confidential sources.  Just as an example, it's kind
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          2  of a common sense example on the Spruill incident.

          3  A requirement that a police officer confirm

          4  independently that a location described by a

          5  confidential informant was in fact the location that

          6  the confidential informant thought it was.

          7                 In the Spruill incident, when they

          8  realized they made a mistake, they bring the

          9  confidential informant into the building, he gets

         10  off the elevator and he turns left, dead to the

         11  apartment.  Her apartment is on the right.  They had

         12  never said to him, okay, you say it's apartment 6-

         13  A, let's go up and you point out to me the

         14  apartment, so we were clear that the apartment

         15  number you are giving us is a valid apartment

         16  number.  The police department claims they have now

         17  put in place many procedures to cut down on the

         18  problems of potentially unreliable confidential

         19  informants.  And we certainly don't, and I don't

         20  think you have any way to assess whether or not that

         21  is so other than if you start getting information

         22  from them that would give you some sense of the

         23  extent to which confidential informant based search

         24  warrants are good search warrants.

         25                 So in your bill, if the bill says,
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          2  search warrants based on confidential informants

          3  tell us how many are good and how many are bad.

          4  That gives you a useful piece of information.  And

          5  if you see that half of them are no good, someone is

          6  going to say what's going on here.  If you see that

          7  two percent of them are no good, we're in a

          8  different position.  We know that Commissioner Kelly

          9  testified in June that he said that they can only

         10  confirm that ninety percent of the search warrants

         11  that were executed actually produced the person or

         12  the objects identified in the search warrant

         13  application.  I can tell you ten percent bad search

         14  warrants in the City, given the number of search

         15  warrants you are doing every year, is a lot of

         16  people whose apartments are being wrongly raided.

         17  But I think you need to look at that.  So, it's a

         18  long answer to your question.  I think that what

         19  needs to happen is they need to do the sort of

         20  things they say they are doing, but you as the City

         21  Council need to have some check to make sure that

         22  what they say they are doing they are doing.  And

         23  the proof is in the pudding in the sense that if you

         24  can get some figures about the number of good search

         25  warrants based on confidential informants, that
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          2  should give you some confidence that their

          3  confidential informant process is better.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I have one other

          5  question Mr. Chair.  Your accurate and correct that

          6  I have, but virtually everyone of my colleagues has

          7  had people in their districts tell them, perhaps

          8  more in certain neighborhoods than others, that they

          9  have had their apartments broken into.  My next door

         10  neighbor's son has told me this story about his

         11  apartment up the street as recently as a couple of

         12  months ago.

         13                 How would you suggest that we also

         14  look at holding judges accountable, because it is my

         15  understanding that to get a search warrant you have

         16  to get a judge to say to give you permission.  So

         17  are the judges being given information?  Do we know

         18  by the police, they say, okay here is the track

         19  record or you know, the judge says it and then there

         20  is impunity for the judge that we don't reexamine

         21  that because you know, the police can then turn

         22  around and rightfully say, well they said yes, go

         23  ahead and do it. So should we also be examining

         24  that?

         25                 MR. DUNN: Well certainly I think the
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          2  courts need to be part of this process and we

          3  indicated that after the hearing in June.  And I

          4  will tell you it was interesting at this training in

          5  October, which every single criminal court judge in

          6  the City of New York attended.  There were many

          7  complaints from the judges.  It was on two separate

          8  dates.  Half came on one day on October 3rd and the

          9  other came on October 24th.  And as I mentioned the

         10  police department did a whole presentation about how

         11  much better their application process was.  But when

         12  it came to judges saying, okay fine, we want to hear

         13  that information, when you come in for an

         14  application.  And we want to know if the CI, what

         15  sort of history you have with the CI.  This one hit

         16  the ceiling. They did not want to be discriminated

         17   --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You mean the

         19  confidential informant, just for the record here,

         20  the CI.

         21                 MR. DUNN: I'm sorry, excuse me for

         22  using an acronym, the confidential informant.  When

         23  the judges were saying, well look tell us what the

         24  history is with this confidential informant so we

         25  have some way to assess the application.  They
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          2  wanted nothing to do with that.  So I think the

          3  courts have very similar concerns.  And I think it

          4  perfectly appropriate to involve the courts in this

          5  process because you are absolutely right, they are

          6  the ones who ultimately issue the search warrants

          7  and the police department, you are absolutely right

          8  turns around and says, hey, I got a judge to sign

          9  off on this, don't talk to me about the problem.  I

         10  think you need to involve the courts on that.

         11  Frankly, if you are the person whose apartment got

         12  kicked in, you don't care who signed what piece of

         13  paper, you want to know what happened.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me say, I

         17  think 90 percent as a search warrant success rate is

         18  actually pretty good.  As a former prosecutor, and

         19  you probably know this also.  I have done three

         20  search warrants looking for a murder weapon at a

         21  house, a girlfriends house, a business and two or

         22  three of those are going to be bad right off the bat

         23  because it can only be one place.  So I don't think

         24  90 percent is so bad, but as you said when it

         25  results in a death we have to do everything we can
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          2  to prevent these from happening.

          3                 MR. DUNN: Well I hope that doesn't

          4  mean that you think one- third is okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Unless they are

          6  all in the situation I gave here, it would not be

          7  okay.

          8                 The Law Enforcement Exception Bill, I

          9  know you haven't had a chance to go through that as

         10  in depth as you'd like to but I would like to get

         11  your opinion on that.  It is an exception that is

         12  written into many other laws.  Do you think that

         13  this particular bill that they are requesting goes

         14  too far, do you agree in part with some of it, what

         15  are your thoughts on it?

         16                 MR. DUNN: I'll tell you in all

         17  honesty we need to look at it a little more closely.

         18    I mean there is no question that -- let's just

         19  conceptually -- it there were a document that

         20  otherwise were privileged under FOIL for the law

         21  enforcement privilege then it doesn't make any sense

         22  to essentially circumvent that privilege by putting

         23  it on the internet.  We are not suggesting for a

         24  moment that the police department needs to start

         25  posting everything on the internet regardless of

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  whether or not it is a genuinely sensitive document.

          3    No one is going to suggest that.

          4                 Our concern would be and it goes to

          5  the questions of both you and Council Member Katz

          6  asked, was who is making the decision and what sort

          7  of discretion is being exercised and who gets the

          8  final say.  And I will tell you that I am very

          9  concerned, particularly with the police department,

         10  I don't really deal with corrections, but with the

         11  police department.

         12                 Their view of what constitutes

         13  sensitive law enforcement information is, shall we

         14  say, an expansive one.  If their view is that

         15  reporting on a quarterly basis that there were 4,243

         16  confidential informant based search warrants

         17  executed in the City of New York is so sensitive

         18  that it can't be disclosed to the public for that

         19  reason, then I am profoundly skeptical about giving

         20  them the authority to decide what can or cannot go

         21  on the internet.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Any other

         23  questions?  Okay, Mr. Dunn, thank you very much.  My

         24  staff will be reaching out to you to get some

         25  assistance on what we discussed.  I appreciate your
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          2  testimony.

          3                 There are no other panels today, so

          4  thank you all very much for attending today.  This

          5  hearing is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 11:33 a.m.)
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